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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good morning.  I'm

          3  Council Member Phil Reed, Chair of the Consumer

          4  Affairs Committee.  I'm happy to have all of us here

          5  today.  I'm trying to move forward, not hastily, but

          6  quickly, because we have several other committee

          7  meetings that myself and others have to attend

          8  across the street. We have a lot other business and

          9  busy people here today.

         10                 I am joined at this moment today by

         11  my colleagues in the Council. Council Member Avella,

         12  who has a bill here that we're going to be hearing

         13  about, and Council Member Gentile from Brooklyn,

         14  who's a member of the Committee, and Council Member

         15  Clarke, Yvette Clarke, immediate to my left, whose

         16  bill on Endangered Species is a bill that we're

         17  actually going to, hopefully, vote out of the

         18  Committee. I'm sure other members will be joining us

         19  but I wanted to begin today.

         20                 Now, we are going to be reviewing

         21  proprosed Intro 367-A, in relation to the sale or

         22  purchase of products claiming to be or contain an

         23  endangered or threatened species.  This is the

         24  second hearing on this legislation.  The first was

         25  held in June.
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          2                 As I noted at the first hearing, New

          3  York City consumers are entitled to buy dependable

          4  goods at fair prices without fearing deception or

          5  fraud.

          6                 Further, we should have the right to

          7  make informed decisions based upon our community's

          8  values.  Proposed Intro 367- A makes it illegal to

          9  buy or sell products labeled or advertised as

         10  containing any substances derived from a threatened

         11  or endangered species.

         12                 Of course, this legislation also

         13  makes it illegal to purchase or sell any animal

         14  labeled as endangered or threatened. Any person that

         15  violates proposed Intro 367- A after October 1st of

         16  2005 will be subjected to a civil penalty of not

         17  more than $500 for the first violation as well as

         18  for each violation appearing on the same day as the

         19  first violation and not less than $500 nor more than

         20  $1,500 for each subsequent violation.

         21                 In addition, violators may have their

         22  illegal good seized.  As I also noted at the first

         23  hearing, this legislation protects endangered

         24  species but also addresses the importance of truth

         25  in advertising.
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          2                 If consumers are properly informed

          3  about the goods they purchase, they can make

          4  purchasing choices to express their interests.

          5  Under this legislation, once a consumer learns that

          6  a good is derived from a threatened or endangered

          7  species, he or she will know that the item is

          8  illegal and such a purchase would support the trade

          9  of precious, endangered animals.  He or she can then

         10  make the legal, responsible, informed choice to

         11  purchase a different item.

         12                 Also, I'd like to reiterate that New

         13  York businesses are already required to advertise

         14  their products truthfully under the Consumer

         15  Protection Law.

         16                 If a merchant were to admit the fact

         17  that an item includes endangered species in it's

         18  advertising, the Department of Consumer Affairs

         19  would be able to prosecute and penalize such

         20  activity.

         21                 Law abiding merchants are left with

         22  one choice, stop advertising and selling any

         23  endangered or threatened species or any products

         24  that contain these species.

         25                 Finally, I'd like to note on this
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          2  bill, penalties are certainly necessary but consumer

          3  education is also essential to ensure proper

          4  compliance.

          5                 Accordingly, proposed 367- A requires

          6  that the Department of Consumer Affairs publish an

          7  endangered or threatened species list in both

          8  English and Chinese.

          9                 I understand and trust the DCA will

         10  reach out to the affected merchants to help ensure

         11  that they are aware of their responsibilities under

         12  the law.

         13                 Today, we are also hearing testimony

         14  concerning Intro 12- A, in relation to prohibiting

         15  reproduction of certain automotive keys in specific

         16  circumstances.  This is the first hearing on this

         17  legislation.

         18                 As we are all aware, automobile theft

         19  in New York City is a major concern.  Not only is it

         20  a tremendous financial and personal inconvenience

         21  for those victimized but the thefts also contribute

         22  to burdening our already over taxed police,

         23  prosecutors and courts with the task of arresting,

         24  prosecuting and adjudicating offenders.

         25                 Additionally, New York City's auto
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          2  theft rate contributes to our high auto insurance

          3  charges which rank this City as number five on the

          4  list of the nation's insurance premiums.

          5                 Intro 12- A makes it illegal for any

          6  person to produce an automobile key through any

          7  means other than duplicating an existing key, such

          8  as utilizing the car's vehicle identification

          9  number, a key impression or code without first

         10  obtaining documentation to show that the customer

         11  actually owns the vehicle and proof of the

         12  customer's identification.

         13                 The key maker or automobile dealer is

         14  also mandated to make and maintain copies of the

         15  documents that he or she records.  Most automobile

         16  ignition keys presently use transponder (phonetic),

         17  transponder chip technology, essentially requiring

         18  customers to return to the dealership to order new

         19  keys from the manufacturer.

         20                 Further, the majority of automobile

         21  corporations already require their authorized

         22  dealers to follow a policy similar to this

         23  legislation.  This law essentially mandates the

         24  current industry standard and subjects violators to

         25  a criminal penalty of up to one year imprisonment
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          2  and $1,000 fine.

          3                 In addition, violators are also

          4  subject to civil penalties of between $500 and

          5  $1,000.  We are going to have an opening statement,

          6  brief statement by Council Member Clarke, who's the

          7  prime sponsor of the Endangered Species Bill.  I

          8  know she's worked very hard on this and I'm pleased

          9  to also be involved in moving this into law and then

         10  we will have some brief testimony.

         11                 I'm waiting for a few other members

         12  of the Committee to arrive.  They've been alerted

         13  that we have a vote so we may also move to testimony

         14  on the ignition key as well but my intent is to vote

         15  this out.

         16                 I'd like to first, while the

         17  administration is taking seats, I'm pleased that

         18  they're also supportive of this bill but I'd like to

         19  give the microphone over to Yvette Clarke.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you so

         21  very much, Council Member Reed.

         22                 I'd like to thank the co-sponsors of

         23  this legislation of course, the members of the

         24  Consumer Affairs Committee.  I'd like to express my

         25  gratitude to Thomas Leung of the Association of
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          2  Chinese Herbalists and the World Wide Life Fund.

          3                 I'd like to also thank Andrew Eiler

          4  of the Department of Consumer Affairs, Ms. Devon

          5  O'Hearn of the Mayor's office and Ms. Donna

          6  DeConstanzo, Counsel to the Environmental Protection

          7  Committee as well as all key Council staff for

          8  bringing us to this point.

          9                 As has been stated by Council Member

         10  Reed, this legislation will make it illegal to buy

         11  or sell or attempt to buy or sell any products

         12  advertised to be or contain an endangered or

         13  threatened species.

         14                 An example of that would be some of

         15  what we've come to know in this City as something

         16  like tiger bone in a product or a komodo dragon in a

         17  pet store and a lot of this came about because we've

         18  seen, in the City, somewhat of a disrespect and a

         19  disregard for current state law and what this law

         20  will do is give a level of added protection and

         21  strength to the enforcement of this law, of our

         22  laws.

         23                 What it does is it would sort of

         24  lower the bar for what has become an extremely

         25  costly process by which the state and federal
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          2  government has had to go about really detecting and

          3  prosecuting those who are seen to be in the process

          4  of selling these types of goods in our city.

          5                 It requires a DNA test and what this

          6  law will do is bring it to the level of

          7  advertisement which I think will, will really propel

          8  us forward in this city.

          9                 Endangered species are readily

         10  available in New York City.  We've seen it in the

         11  case of the sale of traditional Chinese medicines

         12  and other remedies of various immigrant communities

         13  throughout our city as well as the pet trade and the

         14  sale of furs.

         15                 Successful implementation of this law

         16  will require a strong outreach and education element

         17  to many of our communities and that's something that

         18  we're proud to say the Department of Consumer

         19  Affairs has agreed to be a part of and as a result

         20  of this bill, it will require that the list of

         21  endangered and threatened species be made available

         22  and published in English and in other languages.

         23                 New York City Council is in the

         24  forefront.  We know of no other local jurisdiction

         25  that has taken such a strong and powerful move to
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          2  really end this practice other than the 1969 law on

          3  alligator and crocodile skins right here in the City

          4  of New York so we're extremely proud to bring this

          5  legislation forward.

          6                 It moves our city into the 21st

          7  century and I want to again thank Council Member

          8  Reed for shepherding this through his Committee and

          9  for his avid support for this legislation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         11  much, Council member.   Mr. Eiler and those who are

         12  testifying with you, if any. You have a solo act

         13  today, Andy?

         14                 MR. EILER: Solo act.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's always when

         16  we're in agreement they come solo otherwise they

         17  deputize, they bring the team with them.

         18                 MR. EILER: Okay.  Good morning

         19  Chairman Reed and members of the Consumer Affairs

         20  Committee.  I'm Andrew Eiler, I'm Director of

         21  Legislation for the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         22  Commissioner Dykstra asked me to thank you for this

         23  opportunity to comment on the two bills, Intro 367-

         24  A and Intro 12- A that are the subject of your

         25  hearing.
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          2                 Taking them in turn, I will first

          3  comment on Intro 367- A that would ban the sale of

          4  products described or labeled as containing

          5  ingredients derived from endangered species to

          6  effectuate the ban on selling products containing

          7  such ingredients.

          8                 This bill is a significantly revised

          9  version from the proposal the Committee had

         10  considered at your hearing on June 1, 2004 when the

         11  Department had raised some questions about it.

         12  Commissioner Dykstra was pleased that these issues

         13  had largely been addressed and incorporated into the

         14  bill following productive discussions with the

         15  Council's staff.

         16                 Rather than reviewing them in detail,

         17  I note only the two most important ones.  First, the

         18  bill now confers on the Department hearing authority

         19  to adjudicate violations by administrative hearings.

         20                 Second, the bill clarifies the

         21  products the ban covers and provides that the

         22  Department publish a list that identifies the

         23  species for which all populations have been declared

         24  endangered.  I also mean threatened not just

         25  endangered but --.
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          2                 The publication of this list will

          3  make clear to everyone which species are entirely

          4  covered as endangered so that no product can be made

          5  with any ingredients derived from these species.

          6  By the same token, I must note that the law can be

          7  effectively enforced only with respect to products

          8  containing ingredients derived only from species for

          9  which all population is declared endangered.

         10                 Although the bill might apply to

         11  products containing ingredients derived from species

         12  for which only some of it's population is declared

         13  endangered, it is practically impossible to

         14  distinguish whether the ingredients in such products

         15  are derived from the population of such species that

         16  is endangered rather than from populations that are

         17  not.

         18                 Despite this limitation, the proposed

         19  ban is a big step forward toward backing up the law

         20  banning the sale of products containing ingredients

         21  derived from endangered species by driving from the

         22  market products that are declared to be, that are

         23  declared to contain such ingredients without having

         24  to prove the physical presence of the banned

         25  ingredient.
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          2                 Commissioner Dykstra is pleased to

          3  advise the Council that the Administration now

          4  supports the enactment of 367- A.

          5                 Turning now to Intro 12- A that would

          6  amend the locksmith licensing law to prohibit the

          7  reproduction of car ignition keys based solely on

          8  the basis of a motor vehicle identification number

          9  without obtaining proper proof of ownership from the

         10  person requesting the production of the key.

         11                 The originally proposed requirement

         12  to Intro 12 would have separately applied to

         13  locksmiths and car dealers to require them to obtain

         14  and maintain records of the identification they are

         15  mandated to obtain before making vehicle ignition

         16  keys.

         17                 At first glance, that seems to be a

         18  simple and practical step to combat car thieves by

         19  blocking them from easy access to vehicle ignition

         20  keys.

         21                 A more detailed examination, however,

         22  brought to light a number of significant technical

         23  and substantive issues about the sufficiency of the

         24  proposal for achieving it's goals of preventing car

         25  thefts. I will now only highlight a number of them
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          2  to illustrate ways this proposal could be revised so

          3  it can achieve it's purpose.

          4                 One reason is the proposal itself may

          5  be based on an incorrect assumption that obtaining

          6  replacement keys made based on vehicle

          7  identification numbers may facilitate car thefts.

          8  That assumption may be incorrect for at least the

          9  following reasons:

         10                 It can be very, even extremely,

         11  expensive to have replacement keys made when the

         12  originals are not available.  According to one

         13  internet site that addresses the issue of costs,

         14  obtaining a duplicate key, a duplicate for keys that

         15  have transponders embedded in them, can cost from 35

         16  to 225 if the original keys are available.  If not,

         17  costs can skyrocket up to $3,000 depending on

         18  whether the computer module has to be replaced.

         19                 The equipment needed to reprogram

         20  keys start at 1,000 and can go as high 6,500 for one

         21  car manufacturer.  The cost of the equipment needed

         22  to reprogram keys explains the up to 650 charge for

         23  reprogramming keys.

         24                 It can take time to obtain a

         25  replacement key, that may also the key to be
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          2  reprogrammed on site with the car.  The difficulties

          3  in obtaining such replacements is illustrated by how

          4  they could be acquired through internet from

          5  StreetKeys.

          6                 The company requires purchasers to

          7  provide only a VIN and make and model information

          8  before making a key which costs less than $30.  The

          9  company then delivers the key to it's affiliates

         10  where the purchaser must pick it up and show proof

         11  of car ownership.

         12                 Moreover, unless the purchaser has

         13  the original keys that would be necessary for

         14  programming the replacements, the replacement key

         15  would have to be reprogrammed for the vehicle on

         16  site by a technician.  Of course, there are separate

         17  charges for that service.

         18                 Obtaining replacement keys based on

         19  vehicle identification numbers is, therefore,

         20  unlikely to be a method of choice for car thieves

         21  when the usual methods work faster and more,

         22  anonymously.

         23                 Another reason is that the definition

         24  that triggers the requirement for identification or

         25  documentations does not capture the circumstances
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          2  under which ignition keys would be made for an

          3  individual who claims to have lost them. The only

          4  circumstances in which replacement keys would be

          5  made based on vehicle identification numbers.

          6                 The issue is that the bill provides

          7  that the identification be obtained for producing a

          8  duplicate when it is done solely based on the basis

          9  of motor vehicle identification number.

         10                 As I understand it, however, that

         11  based on a quick review of the technology involved,

         12  replacement keys with transponders embedded in them

         13  can never be produced solely on such basis.  The

         14  transponder must, instead be programmed, which

         15  without the original keys, requires costly equipment

         16  and the proper coding to make it work.  It must also

         17  be done on site with the car.

         18                 A further reason is that combining

         19  the provision, that separately applies to car

         20  dealers in Intro 12 with the provision governing

         21  locksmith in Intro 12- A simply by applying a ban to

         22  any person will, create confusion and ambiguity

         23  about who the law covers and would create

         24  enforcement issues for DCA; including a prohibition

         25  that applies to any person within a section
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          2  governing the activities of locksmiths ensures that

          3  the people other than locksmiths would fail to

          4  notice it, and that even if some did, people may

          5  conclude it applies only to locksmiths since the

          6  contents of a licensing law generally apply only to

          7  the types of businesses covered by the licensing

          8  law.

          9                 More important, while the DCA would

         10  have authority to adjudicate violations of that

         11  provision against locksmiths, it would not have such

         12  authority over other persons who violate it.

         13                 If, therefore, the ban on making

         14  replacement car keys without proper identification

         15  were to apply to car dealers, it should be done

         16  separately and provide the DCA hearing authority to

         17  adjudicate violations.

         18                 Rather than going into further

         19  details involving a proposal, I would instead

         20  suggest the Committee broaden it by updating and

         21  expanding the locksmith licensing law to reflect the

         22  current state of the industry in two basic ways.

         23                 First, the definition of what

         24  constitutes the activities of a locksmith should be

         25  updated to include electronic key devices, such as
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          2  transponders embedded in ignition keys.

          3                 A locksmith is now defined as, as a

          4  locksmith is now defined the law does not expressly

          5  apply electronic key devices.  It instead describes

          6  the locksmith as someone dealing with mechanical

          7  actions and correct operations of all locks, key or

          8  keyless or similar devices and whose trade or

          9  occupation is repairing such locks by mechanical

         10  means.

         11                 The definition should therefore be

         12  updated to make clear that the programming of

         13  transponder devices and similar electronic locking

         14  devices is covered by locksmith activities.  This

         15  updating would then also ensure that the programming

         16  of transponders could only be done by licensed

         17  locksmiths.

         18                 The proposal to require

         19  identification from any person seeking to obtain a

         20  replacement ignition key would then already be

         21  governed by requirements that govern the conditions

         22  under which locksmiths are authorized to open a lock

         23  for someone.

         24                 Second, the licensing law should be

         25  expanded to require that any business that offers
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          2  the service of locksmith be licensed rather than

          3  only the individual who acts as a locksmith as is

          4  now the case.

          5                 Currently, more than half of all

          6  locksmiths are employed by businesses that sell

          7  their services.  Since such businesses are not

          8  required to be licensed, DCA lacks jurisdiction over

          9  the conduct of the business that actually sells the

         10  services produced by, provided by a licensed

         11  locksmith.

         12                 Moreover, as employees, licensed

         13  locksmiths also lack control over their employers

         14  that enables them to ensure that business complies

         15  with all the requirements the law imposes on

         16  individual locksmiths.  The business engaged in

         17  selling locksmith services can, with impunity,

         18  ignore the requirements of the locksmith law,

         19  including the prohibitions on stickering public or

         20  private locations with advertising or even using

         21  unlicensed persons to perform locksmith services.

         22  In such cases, the unlicensed individual performing

         23  the locksmith services would be liable, but not the

         24  business that employed him or her.

         25                 Requiring the licensing of businesses
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          2  that sell locksmith services would close this

          3  loophole in the locksmith licensing law and

          4  significantly strengthen DCA's enforcement

          5  capability to ensure that those engaged in the

          6  locksmith business comply with the laws applicable

          7  to locksmiths.

          8                 This combination of changes to the

          9  locksmith law would then also implement the

         10  proposals that are now contained in Intro 12- A.

         11  Thank you again for the opportunity to comment on

         12  these bills and I would be happy to answer your

         13  questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, thank you.

         15  That was a mouthful and I appreciate your testimony.

         16    The first thing that comes to mind, I don't want

         17  to dwell on the key business, in fact, I'm going to

         18  stop myself.  See?  We're going to talk about that

         19  in a minute so I hope you are planning on staying.

         20  We're going to go back and have some brief testimony

         21  from one person on the endangered species bill.  I

         22  see Michele Bicek and, is there anyone else that was

         23  here to testify about the endangered species bill?

         24                 Okay, you need to sign in Mr. Leung,

         25  okay?  We want to have that vote.  Andy, if you
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          2  don't mind and then we'll, because there's lots of

          3  questions that have come up from your testimony but

          4  we'll try to be brief since we're in agreement on

          5  the endangered species bill. Okay?

          6                 MR. EILER: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  I want

          8  to open up that, that area right this moment

          9  although in the testimony in relationship to the

         10  endangered species bill, you didn't mention and it's

         11  been pointed out to me that one of the major things

         12  is about education and so I'm not sure what

         13  commitment we have on DCA's part.  It looks to me as

         14  if one of the reasons that we set the --

         15                 MR. EILER: I just covered to but

         16  that's definitely education part --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Can I finish my

         18  question?

         19                 MR. EILER: Sorry. Sorry.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The implementation

         21  date of this bill is not for another 11 or so months

         22  which I would assume is allowing DCA a chance to

         23  ramp up, beware of this and, and prepare public

         24  information and education.  Is that correct?

         25                 MR. EILER: That's --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Can you give us a

          3  brief idea of what it is that you're planning on

          4  doing?

          5                 MR. EILER: Well, not right now.

          6  That's going to be something that we're going to be

          7  planning to do once the legislation is enacted then

          8  we'll --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But you will have

         10  some pamphlets and information and obviously you're

         11  prepared for the financing of translation of this as

         12  we said in Chinese and so all those education

         13  efforts, PSA's, etcetera?

         14                 MR. EILER: Yes.  We're planning to do

         15  the education that's necessary to make this thing

         16  work.  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.  Council

         18  Member Clarke, do you have any questions of the

         19  Administration about this?  Thank you on this, we'll

         20  see you in just a minute.  Mr. Leung and Miss Bicek,

         21  is it?  Bicek.  Could you both come, please?  Come

         22  up.  If you have written testimony or something,

         23  please give it to the Sergeant-At-Arms.  Thank you

         24  for joining us.

         25                 Again, in the interest of time, I
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          2  think we're all supportive of this bill.  I would

          3  you ask you to keep your testimony to two minutes.

          4  Mr. Leung, it's nice to see you again.  Miss Bicek,

          5  do you want to begin?

          6                 MS. BICEK: Thank you for giving me

          7  this opportunity to testify today.  My name is

          8  Michelle Bicek and I work for Environmental Defense,

          9  a national non-profit environmental organization

         10  headquartered here in New York City.  Environmental

         11  Defense has 300,000 members around the country and

         12  over 500 members and activists in New York.

         13                 One of our organizations over-

         14  reaching goals is safeguarding the world's

         15  biodiversity.  To this end, we have developed an

         16  endangered species protection program that focuses

         17  on enhancing our nation's wildlife.

         18                 Most recently, we have embarked on a

         19  campaign to bring 15 species back from the brink of

         20  extinction.

         21                 Animal and plant species are

         22  disappearing 100 times faster than a century and a

         23  half ago.  Despite some successes, less than ten

         24  percent of endangered species are recovering.  Most

         25  depend on private land for survival so our work
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          2  encompasses designing new incentives for land owners

          3  to protect species and habitat. Environmental

          4  Defense's endangered species work is focused on

          5  private land, landowners, and by implication, market

          6  transactions that affect these species.

          7                 Environmental Defense recognizes that

          8  illegal trade is one more stress factor on the

          9  endangered wildlife of the world.

         10                 A recent report released by TRAFFIC,

         11  a wildlife trade monitoring program of the World

         12  Wildlife Fund, stated that the demand for their

         13  parts for traditional Chinese medicines has helped

         14  drive tigers and rhinos close to extinction

         15  worldwide.

         16                 The study also reports that New York

         17  City stores currently engage in selling products

         18  derived from endangered species.  The most effective

         19  strategy to combat these practices is to bolster law

         20  enforcement and education around these practices.

         21                 Environmental Defense applauds New

         22  York City, the New York City Council for taking a

         23  leadership role on the issue and ensuring that it's

         24  consumer markets are not a threat to the

         25  conservation of nature and Environmental Defense
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          2  supports Intro 367- A and the act of stricter

          3  penalties surrounding the sale or purchase of

          4  products claiming to be or contain endangered or

          5  threatened species.

          6                 New York City can help shift the

          7  market away from these products by imposing stricter

          8  fines, therefore reducing the demand for this market

          9  of illegal products of endangered species.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         12  much.  Mr. Leung.

         13                 MR. LEUNG: Good morning, members of

         14  the City Council.  My name is Thomas Leung and I'm

         15  here on behalf of the New York's Association of

         16  Chinese Herbalists and we are, I'm here basically to

         17  show our support for the legislation and I remember

         18  in June, we had our, the first hearing and we had

         19  our concerns and was very happy and I'm very, very

         20  pleased and we want to thank the City Council that

         21  you addressed those concerns and I found it to be,

         22  it was a cooperative effort and we really appreciate

         23  that.

         24                 In the new, I guess the revision,

         25  there was, now that the Department of Consumer
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          2  Affairs is going to publish a list in multiple

          3  languages and I think that's going to be very

          4  helpful.  We think that's going to help with

          5  compliance.

          6                 As I stated earlier, education is a

          7  big part of the overall effort and people want to

          8  comply if they know what species are legal and

          9  illegal and it's way more than rhinos and tigers

         10  because those are the obvious animals.  It's really

         11  the other, not so obvious species and those are the

         12  ones that we're concerned about so we're very happy

         13  to see that and I just want to be here to show our

         14  support for the proposed legislation so thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you both very

         16  much.  I know that, thank you very much.  I know

         17  that you have been here and helped us work through

         18  this bill and appreciate your appearance today.

         19                 We have a statement being entered

         20  into the record by Lee Henry of TRAFFIC North

         21  America World WildLife Fund so I appreciate that.

         22                 I also want to thank the staff, Russ

         23  Longer and Donna De Contesso, Constanzo, I'm sorry

         24  and Sandy Dillon and Deborah Brown, who is no longer

         25  with us, for working through this bill and the
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          2  Administration so I'd like to call the vote on this

          3  bill.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Reed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

         13  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         14  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         15                 Council members, please sign the

         16  Committee report.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  And I'm

         18  sorry I forgot to acknowledge that we've been joined

         19  by our two colleagues on the Committee, Council

         20  Member Oliver Koppell, two other members on the

         21  Committee, Council Member Oliver Koppell from the

         22  Bronx, and Charles Barron from Brooklyn.

         23                 I know that all of these Council

         24  members are sponsors of this legislation so it was

         25  just an oversight on my part.  I apologize to my
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          2  colleagues.  Thank you both very much for being

          3  here.

          4                 Andy, if you would come back.  Yes,

          5  we're going to hold the vote open for the other

          6  members of the Committee.  Thank you.

          7                 Okay, and I also want to, before we

          8  start in discussion of Intro 12-A, Council Member

          9  Avella's bill, I want to welcome, introduce and

         10  welcome the new counsel to the Consumer Affairs

         11  Committee, Thomas Ferruggia.  Did I say that right?

         12                 MR. FERRUGGIA: Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         14                 Welcome, I know you haven't had a

         15  chance to meet all the members of the Committee.

         16  It's customary to have the prime sponsor of

         17  legislation make an opening statement and I

         18  apologize, Council Member Avella, that we heard from

         19  the Administration first, but just in terms of time

         20  and all that, I'm sure we're all open to dialog so

         21  Council Member Avella, did you want to address your

         22  bill before I ask my questions?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Just, just a

         24  quick comment. Certainly, first of all, I

         25  appreciate, Mr. Chairman, your scheduling an hearing
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          2  on this item.

          3                 I think your comments about the, the

          4  intent of the bill were right on mark.  It is

          5  something that, I think, many of us feel need to be

          6  done to further protect cars from being stolen and I

          7  certainly have some questions for the Administration

          8  as well once you are done but I think it's something

          9  that we can certainly work with the Administration

         10  but there is a clear intent that we feel needs to be

         11  addressed here.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         13  much.  I think we're being joined by a member of the

         14  Committee.  Sometimes he's mistaken for the Chair

         15  but he's the one with hair.  Council Member Addabbo

         16  from Queens, thank you for joining us.  We just took

         17  a vote on this, yes, so.

         18                 William, if you would open the vote.

         19  Allow Council Member Addabbo to vote on this please.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         21  Addabbo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I vote aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote is now five

         24  in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         25  abstentions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  Once

          3  again, I'm mindful that we all have a lot of

          4  obligations and an important Health Committee

          5  hearing which, unfortunately, I don't know why

          6  because that room seems open but it's scheduled

          7  across the street so it's not like we can go from

          8  one room to another today.

          9                 Mr. Eiler, one of the things that

         10  struck me about your testimony in regards to this

         11  bill, I think we're mindful of some of the concerns

         12  that you have and so some of my comments are

         13  addressed both to you and to the prime sponsor.  But

         14  in the broader sense, I guess, from an overall

         15  perspective of, of the Department of Consumer

         16  Affairs, if there are these larger issues in

         17  relation to the licensing of locksmiths and not the

         18  company and, in fact, if there are the issues

         19  specific to the law that talks about mechanical

         20  actions and thus and such that you referred to, it

         21  seems to me in the three years that I've chaired

         22  this Committee that you all have been fairly

         23  aggressive and rightfully so in, sort of, updating

         24  the code so your testimony makes it sound like it's

         25  encumbered on the Council to upgrade the code.
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          2                 Why aren't you proposing the

          3  legislation to make this thing more relevant to

          4  today's industry standard?

          5                 MR. EILER: Well, it's something that

          6  we've been working on in terms of upgrading the

          7  code.  But given that the bill has been, given that

          8  this bill addresses a topic, it seemed appropriate

          9  to, to deal with it at the same time when you

         10  brought it up that if we're going to address an

         11  issue that relates to this industry, and it's really

         12  on topic where something needs to be addressed, then

         13  that's something that we can then, given that the

         14  Council has acted in the area with this legislation,

         15  that we should broaden and deal with the subject at

         16  the same time.

         17                 So it seemed like an appropriate

         18  opportunity to raise the broader question since the

         19  issue was broached with this legislation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Fair enough.  I

         21  would look forward to taking that opportunity as we

         22  move forward with this legislation perhaps it may be

         23  separate but if it can be done in, in one piece,

         24  that's fine.

         25                 Can you just tell me briefly why is
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          2  the law such now that only an individual as a

          3  locksmith has to be licensed but if I go into this

          4  hardware store, keys made, now do they have to have

          5  a license to be a hardware store?

          6                 MR. EILER: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They don't have to

          8  have a license to, they have to have a business

          9  license.

         10                 MR. EILER: No, they don't need a

         11  business license.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They don't even

         13  need a business license?

         14                 MR. EILER: No, not a hardware store.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Just hang up a sign

         16  that says hardware?

         17                 MR. EILER: That's correct.  So

         18  there's no licensing required.  If I, I don't want

         19  to, I'm just inferring this from the age of the law.

         20                 The locksmith law goes back to years

         21  and years and years and I think at the time when it

         22  was enacted, locksmiths were pretty much individual

         23  operators that they were self, I mean the locksmith

         24  business was the locksmith and, and the law itself,

         25  even now, talks about itinerant locksmiths, this
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          2  would be people walking up and down the street and

          3  so forth and so on and it's not been changed for a

          4  very long time.  I mean, you know, well, except for

          5  the fact that key makers were removed a number of

          6  years ago but as licensing category.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What was?

          8                 MR. EILER: Keymakers in other words

          9  people who just simply duplicate the key, no longer

         10  need to be licensed as they --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So the person who

         12  stands at the machine, typically, they don't have to

         13  be licensed?

         14                 MR. EILER: That's correct.  The

         15  locksmith is the more broader thing.  Essentially a

         16  locksmith is somebody who not only just makes keys

         17  but he can make the lock, he can make duplicate keys

         18  from the lock and of course, the key to locksmith is

         19  they can pick locks and open locks without a key.

         20                 I mean, that's what the locksmith

         21  does and that's one of the things that when they do

         22  open keys without, when they open locks without a

         23  key, then they're required to use a procedure for

         24  getting identification and getting all sorts of

         25  documentation because obviously a theft issue is the
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          2  whole point that you're opening a lock like to an

          3  apartment and so forth and so on for somebody who's

          4  really the person who lives there and, and so that's

          5  the whole point of a locksmith.

          6                 It's a more technic, I mean, but the

          7  key for getting, being a locksmith, the definition

          8  is a little, now it varies with the industry

          9  practice of, you know, the kind of keys that we now

         10  have. It doesn't necessarily cover everything and it

         11  doesn't cover, about half of all locksmiths do not

         12  work for themselves, they work for businesses and --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand.

         14                 MR. EILER: That's the, that's the --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand and

         16  the other thing that just struck me and then I want

         17  to give Council Member Avella a chance and others to

         18  ask questions before I ask some.  There seems to be

         19  some contradiction in, maybe, in your testimony and

         20  perhaps even in the legislation.

         21                 We refer, I'm sorry, I can't remember

         22  where I saw this in my notes, to a replacement key,

         23   "moreover, unless the purchaser has the original

         24  keys that would be necessary for programming the

         25  replacements, the replacement would have to be
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          2  programmed for the vehicle."  Well, if the original

          3  owner has the key then it's not a replacement key.

          4                 MR. EILER: Oh, it is.  I mean, it's a

          5  replacement --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's an additional

          7  key.

          8                 MR. EILER: -- Additional key,

          9  replacement --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, replacement

         11  is a different, you're replacing something that's

         12  lost.

         13                 MR. EILER: All right, I, okay --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It just seems to me

         15  that I'm replacing something that's lost or I need

         16  another key.

         17                 MR. EILER: Perhaps I was not too

         18  artful in the phrasing of replacement key in the

         19  sense that it's an additional key.  That's probably

         20  the better way to put it in that situation. If the

         21  owner has the original and owners would be very well

         22  advised to, to obtain an additional key when they

         23  still had the originals because it's much cheaper to

         24  do it that way.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you happen to
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          2  know, or maybe Council Member Avella does, in the

          3  industry standard, I don't own a car, when you

          4  purchase a new car or if you just purchase a car

          5  maybe it's pre- owned, how many keys do you normally

          6  get?

          7                 MR. EILER: Two, I think and someone

          8  from our office just bought a car and they, as we

          9  were doing this testimony, they advised me that what

         10  they get is a little, in addition, a computer chip

         11  thing that goes, that they're supposed to put on a

         12  key ring or whatever which is supposed to be used to

         13  program a new key so that in addition to having the

         14  key, they're given a separate, this depends on,

         15  there's many different ways of doing this but in

         16  this particular case, they were told, if you get, if

         17  you need another key, you need this chip or this

         18  little thing that they gave them to use to program

         19  the transponder in the key they have, so don't lose

         20  that because once you lose that then you're cooked.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yeah, well I

         22  wouldn't think I'd put it on my key ring.

         23                 MR. EILER: Well, you should.  That's

         24  correct, I would put it somewhere else but anyway,

         25  so you need something. It's more technical and more
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          2  complicated --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand.

          4                 MR. EILER: -- Than only making the

          5  key.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

          7  Avella.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you Mr.

          9  Chair.  I have several questions.

         10                 First of all, I appreciate your

         11  testimony and I'm certainly willing and I know the

         12  Chair is to work with the Administration to make

         13  this bill better.

         14                 The only thing that I'm concerned

         15  about is some of the, when you mentioned enlarging

         16  the bill and sort of addressing some of these other

         17  issues that we now realize exist.  That, while we

         18  all may want to do that, they may unnecessarily hold

         19  this bill up which I don't think is absolutely

         20  necessary but we can certainly talk about that.

         21                 But one of the major components of

         22  your testimony was for those keys that have the chip

         23  in, which basically only has existed since 1995.

         24  What about all of these other keys, I mean for the

         25  most part, I would imagine most of the cars out
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          2  there are pre- 1995, so although those other cars do

          3  not have the chips and in effect, somebody can go

          4  into an establishment now and get that key made with

          5  just the VIN number and I think that's what the

          6  legislation is trying to address.

          7                 There's also the, and I want your

          8  comments on this, there's also the other issue about

          9  not every automobile dealer is doing the chip.  My

         10  own legislative counsel just informed me that when

         11  she got her new car, she got two keys.  Only one of

         12  the keys had the chip.  The other key did not so

         13  it's interesting that there seems to be, there's not

         14  an industry standard and it's certainly up to us to

         15  make sure that motorists are protected against car

         16  theft and certainly, I think the intent of this bill

         17  is to make sure that whenever a key is reproduced,

         18  that we have proper documentation.

         19                 MR. EILER: I think that's correct

         20  that basically you do have very, the technology of

         21  the keys for ignitions has shifted since about '95,

         22   '97 which is when they started putting transponders

         23  into the keys.  I think '97 may have been the first

         24  year when about half of all cars sold had the

         25  transponder chip and I think there's vast
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          2  differences in how, how, how they do it and what

          3  needs to be done to reprogram them.

          4                 Sometimes you have to reprogram the

          5  ignition, you know the whole, the ignition module

          6  has to be replaced so it varies and I just delved

          7  into the subject for the last couple of three days

          8  so I'm by no means an expert on the subject.

          9                 So there's a lot of questions in

         10  terms of the later models in terms of how they need

         11  to be addressed if we're gonna address the problem.

         12  I think, yeah, definitely you want to keep keys out

         13  of the hands of people who shouldn't have them and

         14  it's a question of the most effective way of doing

         15  it to make sure that, you know, we have the handle

         16  on the subject and I think by broadening it, we'll

         17  be able to approach, address the whole range of

         18  issues rather than just something that might address

         19  a small part of the problem because car thievery,

         20  generally, as I understand it, is later model cars,

         21  not earlier model cars.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: You're

         23  probably correct in terms of the overall number but

         24  it is amazing and I've had this happen in my own

         25  district how the older cars are being stolen just as
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          2  easily.

          3                 MR. EILER: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: But the, you

          5  will acknowledge the fact that there is, that chip

          6  issue --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm sorry, hold it

          8  just a minute. I'm confused.  In your district, what

          9  did you just say?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I said that

         11  the older cars are being stolen as well.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: With more frequency

         13  than the newer ones?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: No, no, no.

         15  Oh, no.  No, I'm just saying that I'm sure that the

         16  larger frequency is newer cars but older cars, the

         17  older models --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Because of their

         19  value?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I don't know

         21  why. I just remember a number of instances where

         22  people have told me that older models are still

         23  being stolen, maybe for the parts but I'm not sure

         24  but this is happening so I just wanted sort of an

         25  acknowledgment by the Administration that they
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          2  recognize that the chip industry, in effect, the

          3  chip part of this only existed in '95, '97 --

          4                 MR. EILER: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: -- And that

          6  there still are issues out there for the older

          7  models.

          8                 MR. EILER: That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Now, this

         10  legislation is based upon legislation that the State

         11  of New Jersey passed.  When we first introduced the

         12  legislation, it was pending legislation. It has now

         13  been passed.  We're trying to get some updated

         14  information as to what's been their experience on

         15  this.

         16                 Have you had any opportunity, I know

         17  you just said that you've only been looking at this

         18  for the past three days, have you had the

         19  opportunity to reach out to them?

         20                 MR. EILER: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Okay.

         22                 MR. EILER: No, I have not.  We will

         23  certainly do that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Yeah, we're

         25  trying to do that as well.  We also reached out to
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          2  the District Attorney's office to get their input on

          3  how much of effect or has this been in car theft.

          4                 MR. EILER: And the insurance industry

          5  may have a word to say on this as well.  I mean, in

          6  terms of how they perceive it and we have not had an

          7  opportunity to really delve into that aspect of the

          8  subject because there's an anti- theft, the industry

          9  has an anti- theft program going and so forth and so

         10  on so that, I mean, obviously they should be also

         11  in, put into the mix so, but we not really got into

         12  very, we looked at it but we haven't gone into it in

         13  full depth that it would be appropriate.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you Mr.

         15  Chairman and I'm certainly available if you and the

         16  Committee staff want to sit down with the

         17  Administration and then talk about this but I think,

         18  you know, the intent of the bill is important and I

         19  think the concerns that have been brought up are

         20  equally important.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I do too and I do

         22  think that we need to ask the Administration as well

         23  as, perhaps, our staff albeit we're perhaps even

         24  more limited than even you are, I would like the

         25  legislation to be broader and more germane perhaps
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          2  to the technology that is out there.

          3                 As well as address, I think there is

          4  an important issue with older cars where it's much

          5  simpler to reproduce a key so there may be larger

          6  pieces of this and I wasn't trying to, you know,

          7  slice a hair when I said there's a difference

          8  between a replacement key and an additional key.

          9                 If you're the car owner, it should be

         10  fairly easy, if for some reason, you want to give

         11  someone else another key, to have a process that is

         12  in place to do that so I'm more low than ever to

         13  think about buying a car with all this new

         14  technology.

         15                 It seems, I just remember driving my

         16  brother- in- law's car last year and setting the

         17  alarm off and couldn't, you know, I had to drive

         18  down the streets with the thing blowing til I got

         19  home because I couldn't make the thing stop and that

         20  was the end of that, driving those new cars.  I'll

         21  go back to my old '68.  Council Member Barron has a

         22  question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         24  much.  I'm just trying to understand a few things.

         25  I don't know whether to ask the sponsor of the bill
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          2  or the Consumer Affairs.

          3                 There are 23,138 auto thefts,

          4  according to the documentation, and we're not sure

          5  of how much of that is attributed to duplication of

          6  car keys, right?  So we don't have that.

          7                 I'm just trying to understand, what

          8  are we saying, that a thief would have to duplicate

          9  a key, if he already has the key?  I'm just

         10  confused.  I just, I might be slow this morning.

         11  I'm just trying to understand.  If I want to steal

         12  your car --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Did you drive to

         14  work?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, I did.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I don't know

         18  whether, what are we saying here?  Who duplicates

         19  the key?

         20                 I know you, it makes sense first of

         21  all, not to just be able to give the VIN number.

         22  There should be a proof of ownership of the

         23  automobile and proof of identification, license.

         24                 That just makes sense, no matter

         25  who's duplicating the key.  But I want to know,

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  who's going to duplicate the key that enables the

          3  person to steal if it's not the thief?

          4                 If it's the thief, then they already

          5  have the key so they don't have to duplicate or is

          6  it, is something else happening?

          7                 I just, I'm just because I have to

          8  explain it because I'm definitely going to be

          9  supportive but I just want to be able to explain it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I'm sorry.  I

         11  didn't realize.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         13  Avella.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Let me -- Andy

         15   --

         16                 MR. EILER: Oh, I can, I mean, I

         17  wasn't sure it was directed to me.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Let's talk

         19  about at least a scenario for pre- 1995, '97 cars

         20  that don't have the chip.  It is possible that a

         21  thief could case an area, look for the car that they

         22  want, get the VIN number off the car itself --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, oh, oh.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: -- Because a

         25  lot of these cars, it's on the windshield.  It's
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          2  also on the car registration. It's on every single

          3  car.  You could go to a dealership that doesn't have

          4  these, that isn't self protected.  You could go to

          5  any key place that has this technology --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: -- I got it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: -- And the

          8  thief could get the key made without producing any

          9  identification then go right back to that car and

         10  just use the key and drive away.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Just for

         12  having the VIN number?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Yeah, just by

         14  the VIN number.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: A little slow

         16  this morning. Thank you very much Council Member.

         17  I'm thinking the thief is going in with a key to

         18  reproduce the key.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Council

         20  Member, I know, you know what surprises me is that

         21  you can do this.  That, in fact, this can be done so

         22  easily, is, in my opinion, mind boggling.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you both.  I
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          2  think we've got some work to do here.  I appreciate

          3  the Administration coming.  We are taking testimony

          4  from Rick Duskiewicz, I'm not going to try to mess

          5  up your name, where is?  Duskiewicz, it was simple.

          6  Please come and join us.  If you have testimony, the

          7  Sergeant at Arms will take it.

          8                 Mr. Duskiewicz is representing the

          9  New York Association of In House Locksmiths,

         10  Incorporated.  Thank you very much for joining us

         11  today.  You seem to be in favor of this legislation.

         12  The way that works is if the light is off, the

         13  microphone is on.

         14                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please state your

         16  name for the record.

         17                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: My name is Rick

         18  Duskiewicz and I represent, as the Chairman said, I

         19  represent the New York Association of In House

         20  Locksmiths.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And would you spell

         22  your name for the record, please?

         23                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: D as in David, U, S

         24  as in Sam, KIEWICZ.  The New York Assoc. --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You may begin.
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          2                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Thank you. The New

          3  York Association of In House Locksmiths is the

          4  largest locksmith association in New York City.  Our

          5  members have, have discussed this bill.  They are

          6  generally in favor although there are three areas

          7  that we have concerns about.

          8                 My original testimony was based on

          9  these three items.  Mr. Eiler did bring up an awful

         10  lot of questions and being a locksmith for 23 years,

         11  I feel I should be able to answer any, most

         12  questions that the Committee might have.

         13                 One of the items that we have a

         14  problem with is the use of the word or term

         15   "produce".  As we read the text of the bill, we all

         16  realize what the intent of the bill is.  In the real

         17  world, we believe that the use of the word "produce"

         18  will only create confusion.  The locksmith industry

         19  standard is "originate".  We believe that would be

         20  the correct word to use.  This may be --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: To substitute the

         22  word "replacement key" for "originate"?

         23                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Produce.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: To replace, to --

         25                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Instead of using the
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          2  word "produce" --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.

          4                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: -- Originate.

          5  Another suggestion is the word "create".

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: "Create?"

          7                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay, let me make

          9  notes on this.

         10                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: This might be

         11  nitpicking but if I stand here and pull a key out of

         12  my pocket, haven't I just produced a key?  This

         13  could create confusion in the real world.  We want

         14  the wording to convey that a key has just been

         15  created.

         16                 Another item is term "permanent".  We

         17  understand that in many circumstances the term

         18   "permanent" means the amount of time that a

         19  business in New York State is required to save

         20  business records. That usually means seven years.

         21  That is not always the case.  Some records must be

         22  kept longer.  Sometimes "permanent" means just that,

         23  permanent.  If seven years is the intent of the

         24  bill, then the term seven years should be in the

         25  text of the bill.
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          2                 And finally, locksmiths and possibly

          3  car dealers are the individuals most likely to be

          4  affected by this legislation if it passes.

          5  Unfortunately, the only times locksmiths receive any

          6  correspondence from the New York City Department of

          7  Consumer Affairs is once every two years, when it's

          8  time to renew their licenses and at that point,

          9  Consumer Affairs only wants their money.

         10                 My question to Mr. Eiler, and maybe

         11  somebody from the Committee could actually pass that

         12  question on to Mr. Eiler, how does the New York City

         13  Department of Consumer Affairs intend to notify the

         14  2,800 licensed locksmiths under their jurisdiction?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: How do they intend

         16  to notify them about new legislation?

         17                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I don't mean

         19  to speak for Mr. Eiler but once, if and when we

         20  would pass legislation, I'm sure that they would, if

         21  they're licensed, they're going to send out written

         22  notices to those people who are licensed by agency.

         23                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: That has not happened

         24  in the past and we believe, unless they are directed

         25  to do so, it will not happen again.  April of this
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          2  year, legislation was passed that directly affected

          3  locksmiths regarding stickers which Mr. Avella was

          4  the co- sponsor of --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What was that bill?

          6                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: The posting of

          7  illegal stickers on private property.  It directly

          8  affected locksmiths in New York City and --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         10                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: -- The Department of

         11  Consumer Affairs never notified any of the

         12  locksmiths.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay, well, I think

         14  Mr. Eiler and the Department have been amply told of

         15  that concern your industry has.

         16                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Thank you.  Also, I

         17  would like to point out to Mr. Eiler, if they would

         18  like expand the locksmith licensing law, we would be

         19  very welcome to have a discussion with members of

         20  his agency.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: To your knowledge,

         22  I'm just trying to understand, you're association of

         23   "in house locksmiths". There's a distinction being

         24  made but I'm not sure of what.

         25                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: "In house locksmiths"
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          2  tend to work in institutions such as colleges,

          3  hospitals, large management companies.  Also,

          4  sometimes large parking garages.  We are distinct

          5  from what you might call the retail locksmith, who

          6  you tend to see out on the street, and businesses --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: To your knowledge,

          8  is there an association of the more retail oriented

          9  locksmiths?

         10                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Yes, there is.  They

         11  were, the association had not met for many years.

         12  They have recently gotten together again but it's a

         13  very loosely based organization at this point.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So if we were

         15  trying to do outreach because it sounds to me that's

         16  a group that perhaps this is more germane to.  Do

         17  you have some idea of who it is that we might want

         18  to reach out to, a trade association?

         19                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Yes, I do.  I did

         20  contact the president of that association.  He

         21  mentioned that their members had discussed it and

         22  did not have any strong feelings either way.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see.  Okay.

         24  Well, thank you very much.  I think what's happened

         25  in this hearing is that we've heard about a lot from

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  the Administration and some of the concerns you

          3  have, both about the, it's clear to me the need to

          4  upgrade, update the code as it relates to locksmith

          5  in general so we'll take that into consideration as

          6  we look to try to respond to these bills and

          7  investigate the effectiveness of this in New Jersey.

          8                 I think it is a useful conversation

          9  and we've got car rates, car thefts, etcetera,

         10  etcetera.  It's also, this is a way to address this

         11  issue and reduce that, then it takes the, relieves

         12  the police.

         13                 The less car thefts, the less police

         14  time and energy being spent in that effort so thank

         15  you very much for your testimony today.  Did you

         16  reach out to the legislative office, to Claude or

         17  William so we could have Council Member Liu's vote?

         18  Thank you.  Thank you very much.

         19                 MR. DUSKIEWICZ: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We are going to

         21  wait for just a minute hopefully so but if, I want

         22  to leave the Committee open but if you gentlemen

         23  have other places to be, I'd understand it.  Thank

         24  you for being here.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 11:07 a.m.)
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